IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 61,410 (The Florida Bar File No. 11E79M90)

THE FLORIDA BAR,

Complainant,

vs.

BURNETT ROTH,

Respondent.

FILED
SID J. WHITE
JUL 26 1984

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

Chief Deputy Clerk

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

 $\underline{\mathtt{C}} \ \underline{\mathtt{O}} \ \underline{\mathtt{N}} \ \underline{\mathtt{F}} \ \underline{\mathtt{I}} \ \underline{\mathtt{D}} \ \underline{\mathtt{E}} \ \underline{\mathtt{N}} \ \underline{\mathtt{T}} \ \underline{\mathtt{I}} \ \underline{\mathtt{A}} \ \underline{\mathtt{L}}$

GREENFIELD & DUVAL 1680 N.E. 135th Street N. Miami, F1. 33181 (305) 893-9270 Attorneys for Respondent

LAW OFFICES

GREENFIELD & DUVAL

INTRODUCTION

The Florida Bar, Complainant, will be referred to as "The Florida Bar".

The Respondent, BURNETT ROTH, will be referred to as the "Respondent".

The following symbols will be used in this Brief:

"T. Nov." - Transcript of November 30, 1983, hearing before the Referee, to be followed by the page number.

"T. Dec." - Transcript of December 6, 1983, hearing before the Referee, to be followed by the page number.

"T. Jan." - Transcript of the January 6, 1984, hearing before the Referee, to be followed by the page number.

Exhibits comprising those specifically introduced will be referred to by The Florida Bar or Roth's numbers, and composites where applicable.

"Ref. Rep."- Report of Referee dated April 4, 1984.

"APP." - Appendix attached.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A formal Complaint was filed on November 17, 1981, by The Florida Bar against the Respondent, Burnett Roth, averring violations of Article XI of the Integration Rule of The Florida Bar, and various portion of the Disciplinary Rules of The Florida Bar, and the Code of Professional Responsibility of The Florida Bar, all arising out of one singular instance of violations of the said Article XI.

The Respondent filed an Answer to the Complaint.

The Hon. Paul M. Marko III was appointed as the Referee by Order of the Chief Justice of the Supreme Court on December 10, 1981.

Hearings on this matter were held on November 30, 1983, December 6, 1983, and January 6, 1984.

On April 4, 1984, the Referee filed his report recommending the disbarment of the Respondent.

The Respondent did file its Petition for Review of the Referee's Findings of Fact, and the Referee's recommendation of discipline.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The Respondent, a member of the Bar at all times since 1934, is subject to the jurisdiction of this Court. He was a long time friend and confidant of the family of Eli Einbinder (deceased), and Florence Einbinder, and their three daughters, Phyllis, Andee and Shaune Harriet.

On November 5, 1973, Florence Einbinder died intestate, in Dade County, Florida, leaving her three daughters, all of whom were over the age of majority as her sole heirs at law.

Florence Einbender's estate consisted principally of a family business known as "Eli Einbinder, Inc.", and some miscellaneous items of personal property. After consultation between Respondent and the heirs, the Respondent filed a Petition for Letters of Administration in the Circuit Court of Dade County, and was duly appointed as the Administrator of the Estate. The Respondent was also the attorney for the Estate.

The Respondent opened an account referred to in the proceedings as an "Estate Account", into which Estate proceeds were deposited. He undertook the operation of the business practically giving up his practice, and finally negotiated the disposition of the wholesale meat business, obtaining approval to the sale of the business (T. Nov. 33). Proceeds from the sale were being paid into the Estate over a period of four years.

-3-

GRENTELDA DUVAL
SECOND FLOOR SEE SORTHAND 135TH STREET
NORTH MIAM, FLORIDA 3250-0488
TEL 13031 802-9270

The last proceeds of this sale were deposited into the Estate account on January 5, 1978 (Roth Ex. "9"; APP. 1).

A total of \$89,717.37, came into the Estate over a period of four years. In addition there were proceeds of insurance policies which the surviving daughters were the beneficiaries. The proceeds of these policies were deposited either into the Estate account or into a Special Account being maintained by the Respondent; the full amount of the insurance proceeds collected was \$54,035.02.

On the advice of the Respondent these funds collected from time to time were not immediately distributed to the beneficiaries, but were accumulated with such funds as came into the Estate, to be held either in the Estate Account or placed into the Special Account maintained by the Respondent. These funds were commingled with the funds of the Respondent and periodically distributed to the heirs.

During the period from November 5, 1973, to April 4, 1974, the Respondent made legitimate disbursements on behalf of the Estate to the beneficiaries/heirs of \$14,065.00, and legitimate disbursements for Estate purposes of \$1,153.85 (Ref. Rep. par. 18 and 19).

During the period of time a total of \$96,234.25 had come into the possession of the Administrator of the Estate (Ref. Rep. 17).

_1 --

Thereafter, it is acknowledged that whenever any of the heirs requested funds from the Respondent, payment was made of the amount requested (T. Nov. 79, 83, 122; T. Dec. 33; T. Jan. 144).

Funds were always available for distribution (T. Jan. p. 143; T. Nov. p. 83; T. Dec. p. 47).

The records of payments made to the heirs/beneficiaries is undisputed (Roth Ex. "8" & "9"). Payment to Phyllis
Wagner, one of the heirs, were made on four occasions
when requested from December 10, 1973, through September 21,
1977, and as funds were received by the Estate, totalling
\$14,033.34; and to Andee Weiner on six occasions between said
dates totalling \$14,533.43 (T. Dec. p. 43); and to Harriet
Einbinder between said dates on six occasions totalling
\$14,984.34 (T. Nov. p. 160; APP. 2-7).

All of the funds belonging to the Estate were either distributed to the heirs by September 21, 1977, or were properly in the Estate Account on that date. Subsequently other monies came into the Estate Account from the last payment due to the Estate from the sale of the property and that was in like manner properly distributed to the heirs.

During this time there were distributions being made to the beneficiaries of the insurance proceeds. There is no dispute that such distribution was made when requested by the beneficiaries, as reflected above (Roth Ex. "1" and "8"; APP. 1-4).

There was introduced into the record the statement of the monies received in the Estate of Florence Einbinder and the payments made from the Estate, which reflects the periodic monies received and disbursed. The funds were disbursed to the heirs or for Administrative expenses. This reflects the distribution of all funds prior to the last receipt of monies by the Estate in January 5, 1978, when the last payment of the mortgage was received, which mortgage was received on the sale of the assets in 1973. This report reflects the full distribution of the assets, and the periodic payments made by the Respondent as the Administrator (Roth Ex. "9"; T. Jan. p. 150; APP. 5-7).

The record of these payments is not disputed. Payments were made to PHyllis Wagner of the full amount of the insurance proceeds of \$18,178.34, as requested, on seven occasions. Payments were made to Andee Weiner of the said amount on 19 occasions the last one being on February of 1977. Payments were made to arriet Einbinder on 38 occasions when requested, the final payment being made on June 24, 1976 (Roth Ex. "1"; APP. 1).

The Respondent had warned Harriet that she was withdrawing too much money and exhausting her funds (T. Jan. p. 146). There was an overpayment to Harriet from the insurance monies of \$5,899.66, which was later repaid from other Estate funds (APP. 2-4).

LAW OFFICES

GREENFIELD & DUVAL

SECOND FLOOR 1666 NORTHEAST 1387H STREET

NORTH MIAMI, FLORIDA 38281-0488

TEL 19081 983-9270

The Respondent and the heirs all agreed that such payments were made periodically and as requested. The heirs state that they sometimes had to wait for funds, but in no instance more than a day or two while funds were being transferred into the account for distribution (T. Jan. 161-162).

25%..................................

Paragraph 64 of the Complaint erroneously contended that the Respondent held certain funds of the heirs/beneficiaries to October 1977. The Florida Bar stipulated to the Referee that this was erroneous and that the date intended was April 8, 1974, and not October 1977 (T. Jan. p. 117).

The Florida Bar also stipulated that by September 17, 1977, all funds of the heirs/beneficiaries that had been received by the Respondent, had been paid to them (T. Jan. p. 117). There were several acknowledgments that by that time in 1977 there were no funds which had not been paid to the heirs/beneficiaries or to the Estate.

There has never been a question of "restitution" be required to be made to the heirs/beneficiaries from the time of the initial Complaint against the Respondent. All funds had long prior thereto been distributed to the heirs/beneficiaries. Actually the heirs/beneficiaries had received all funds nineteen months prior to any complaint arising in these proceedings, i.e., from September 1977 to April 1979, when the first Complaint was made to The Florida Bar.

At no time were funds withheld from the heirs, and they received all funds many months before the Complaint (T. Jan.

- 120). Mr. Hayes, The Florida Bar investigator, when queried, testified:
 - Q. In other words, he admittedly used funds but he returned funds and was all of it returned and accounted for, as far as you know, at the time the successor took over except for interest?
 - A. Again, I didn't go into that at this stage of the investigation. I am not concerned with it, but nothing came to my attention.
 - Q. Well, the Bar is not accusing Mr. Roth withholding any funds in this estate at this time?
 - A. As far as I am concerned, No.

MR. ROSENBLOOM: I can answer that on behalf of the Bar and the answer is "No",

The Complaint did not involve, as will be further elaborated upon, the repayment of any monies which came into the possession of the Respondent, but rather involved certain penalties sought to be assessed against the Respondent because of the commingling of funds. Or in the words of the successor attorney for the heirs, who pressed these proceedings, "getting my clients some money". (T. Dec. p. 163).

One of the sole issues before the Referee was whether the Respondent acted in the interest of the heirs in his handling of the Estate and insurance monies. The Respondent has at all times maintained that he felt it to be in the best interest of the heirs to preserve the assets of the Estate and insurance funds from rapid dissipation by distributing such funds as the heirs requested same as to their needs (T. Nov. pp. 39, 45).

Respondent has all times contended that the heirs knew there was a commingling of funds. All parties acknowledge that before any complaint was made to the Florida Bar of the handling of the Estate, the Respondent has consistently maintained that the heirs knew of the manner in which the funds were being handled (T. Nov. 45, 47, 66; T. Dec. p. 62; T. Jan. pp. 143, 144).

At all times the Respondent has stated that such fact did not justify the commingling of funds. He has always acknowledged that regardless of the motivation there was an improper commingling. However, there were always funds available for distribution and funds were distributed to the heirs when requested (T. Nov. pp. 45-47; 48, 49; 65-67; T. Dec. 33; T. Nov. 122).

of the commingling of the funds, and disbelieved the

Respondent's contention that they were so knowledgeable.

The Referee further found that the Respondent admitted that his records were not properly kept. The Respondent did cooperate in the investigation, acknowledging that the commingling did take place.

Notwithstanding the agreement of all parties that the heirs/beneficiaries had received all of their funds by late September 1977, or were in the Estate account at that time, there remained otherareas of dispute between the heirs and the Respondent.

These areas of dispute related to three areas:

- 1. The heirs/beneficiaries claimed they should be recipients of interest on the funds paid; (the Respondent immediately acknowledged this penalty, but there remained a dispute as to the amount of such interest).
- The Certified Public Accountants who had prepared the Estate Tax Return, Form 706, had prepared it and overpaid the tax; (the Respondent immediately accepted a surcharge of such overpayment. Actually the funds were later repaid with interest by the Federal Government).
- 3. The heirs claimed attorney's fees for their substitute attorney; (the amount of such fee was in dispute, but the Respondent agreed to pay a fee).

On December 23, 1978, by service made upon the Respondent on January 5, 1979, more than sixteen months after the parties acknowledged that all funds had been distributed to the heirs/beneficiaries or the Estate, a lawsuit was filed by the heirs "claiming" interest, income tax overpayment and attorney's fees.

After the proceedings in the Dade County Circuit Court were served on Respondent in January of 1979, the successor attorney decided, on April 9, 1979, to file a Complaint with The Florida Bar.

-10-

ESBOOTEN SISSA USA

The Respondent replied to that Complaint setting forth in his response of May 5, 1979, that he had acted in the interest of his clients, with their full knowledge and consent. In that communication the Respondent freely acknowledged an obligation for interest, the surcharge and attorney's fees.

On May 7, 1979, the complaining attorney wrote to The Florida Bar, saying:

The claim of the Estate of Florence Einbinder and its heirs against Burnett Roth might be based upon a serious misunderstanding. I therefore request that you stay your proceedings in this matter until I notify you of the results of my investigation on or about June 1, 1979. I apologize for any inconvenience and thank you for your attention to this matter.

The Florida Bar did, on May 23, 1979, close its files.

Subsequently, in June 1979, the Respondent and the heirs after a conference with the Chancellor, agreed that the Respondent would pay a penalty of \$60,000.00 for his improper commingling of funds, and the handling of the Estate, to cover the claimed interest, attorney's fees and the surcharge of the IRS overpayment, with a credit for the IRS repayment, if and when made.

This amount of \$60,000.00 is approximately forty (40%) percent of the entire amount which came into the hands of the Respondent during his administration of the Estate, including the insurance proceeds and was a penalty for the act of commingling the funds. It was not a payment of any funds, all of which had been paid nineteen months previously

LAW OFFICES

GREENFIELD & DUVAL

SECOND FLOOR - 1000 NORTHEAST 185TH STREET

NORTH MIANUTEL (200) 693-9270

and over a period of years prior thereto.

The payments were to be made over a period of time.

Because the December 1979 payment of \$10,000.00 was not made, the attorney, a day later, refiled his Complaint to The Florida Bar in an effort to force immediate payment from the Respondent of the agreed upon penalty.

ELECTION FIRER USA

When security for the balance was furnished to the successor attorney for the heirs, he again wrote a letter to The Florida Bar, stating in part as follows:

[I]t became apparent that there had, in fact been an unfortunate breakdown in communication and that in fact the actions which occurred and which are referred to in the prior correspondence were apparently the subject of a serious misunderstanding between the parties.

(Roth Ex. "3" and "4").

At the time of writing this letter, the attorney advised his clients to supersede this communication to The Florida Bar in which it was implicit that there had been a misunderstanding, and that the Respondent had acted with the full knowledge and approval of the heirs.

The heirs wrote to The Florida Bar asking that the Complaint be pursued. The attorney for the heirs testified that he had acted in a "manner deceptive to the Respondent", reflecting vindictiveness and The Bar proceeded with its investigation.

The attorney said:

THE STATE OF THE S

I have never done anything like that before. I guess it was in a manner deceptive to Mr. Roth, but I felt that in light of what had happened, that it was the only way that I could achieve getting my clients some money...."

(T. Dec. p. 163).

It is clear that he was not at this point of time talking about any of the money the Respondent ever had from the Estate or the insurance as these monies had been repaid more than two years previously. It was the excess penalty monies that they were seeking, relating to the \$60,000.00 penalty.

In the settlement of the litigation between the parties the attorney for the heirs/beneficiaries and for the Respondent did stipulate in part as follows:

The parties did, before the Court, reach an amicable agreement for the payment of certain monies allegedly due by the Defendant to the Plaintiffs, which the Defendant did agree to pay to the Plaintiffs in settlement of this cause, the Defendant having denied all purported wrongdoing being claimed in the Complaint, but acknowledging an obligation for certain interest, attorney's fees, and a surcharge in connection with certain overpayments to the Internal Revenue Service, and all of said payment and monies agreed to be due from the Defendant to the Plaintiffs having been paid, the parties do hereby agree as follows...."

There was an approval to dismiss the cause with prejudice (Roth Ex. "6"; T. Jan. p. 69).

At the hearing before the Referee, the Respondent introduced testimony of his intense remose, anguish, embarrassment and the sleepless nights resulting from the commingling of assets (T. Jan. 175, 176, 184, 193-195; APP. 8-13).

-12-

LAW OFFICES

GREENFIELD & DUVAL

SECOND FLOOR - 1000 NORTHEAST 135TH STREET

NORTH MIAMI-FLORIDA 33201-0408

TEL. 13081 865-9270

Proof was elicited and not disputed that the additional out-of-pocket expenses paid to the heirs/beneficiaries by the Respondent was \$53,061.51.

Testimony was further elicited and without objection reflected and the Referee found that there had not been a single Complaint against the Respondent to the Florida Bar in his fifty years of practice, prior to or subsequent to this single incident.

The record reflected and the Referee found, that there has not been a Complaint of any kind, relating to Respondent's practice of law other than this incident, subsequent to his resignation as attorney of this Estate in 1977.

The record is further undisputed and the Referee found that the Respondent had a lifetime of pro bono work both charitable and civic, and was most active in local and national organizations. During his practice from 25% to 50% of his time is performing pro bono work (T. Jan. 128-130; APP.

The Chief Judge of the Federal District Court, another United States District Court Judge, a Circuit Judge, and the spiritual leader of the Respondent, Rabbi Irving Lehrman, recognized as an outstanding American leader, testified to the excellent reputation and standing of the Respondent in the community. Each of the witnesses testified that they trust the Respondent. When asked, the testimony was that they were cognizant of the facts in this case, and would

still have no hesitancy in having the Respondent handle their own estates. They were convinced that the Respondent was completely rehabilitated and that this one time offense would not be possible of being repeated. (See excerpts of testimony of Dr. Irving Lehrman (T. Dec. 87-94; APP. 17-25) Judge Sam I. Silver (T. Dec. 71-82; APP. 26-36), Judge Sidney M. Aronovitz (T. Dec. 3-17; APP. 37-46), and Judge Joe Eaton (T. Dec. 83-86; APP. 47-51).

The Referee noted the lifetime of pro bono work of the Respondent. There has been more than ten years of active practice since the original dereliction of commingling of funds, and it is seven years since the full payment of the funds; and that in the prior and intervening years there had never been a Complaint of any nature against this Respondent.

Nonetheless, the Referee recommended Disbarment, which was approved by the Board of Governors of The Florida Bar.

ARGUMENT

I.

25% dation firm usa

THE REFEREE ERRED BY FAILING TO BASE HIS RECOMMENDATIONS UPON THE EVIDENCE PRESENTED, AND MADE A RECOMMENDATION OF DISBARMENT, CONTRARY TO THE CASE LAW.

This cause arose out of a dereliction by an attorney in a single isolated alleged violation of the Integration Rules. The facts reflected that there were many mitigating circumstances which were disregarded by the Referee. His recommendation of disbarment was unduly harsh and violative of the case law. The applicable cases consider various criteria, factual situations, and mitigating facts which must be considered in any disciplinary action.

A. Criteria for Penalty of Disbarment

The Florida Supreme Court has suggested three criteria to be kept in mind in reaching a Judgment in disciplinary cases:

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