AUG 20 1984

CLERK, SUPREME COURT.

Chief Députy Clerk

THE	FLORIDA BAR,)	
	Complainant,)	CONFIDENTIAL
vs.)	Supreme Court Case No. 61,410
מסוזם	JETT ROTH	1	The Florida Bar Case No. 11F79M90

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

COMPLAINANT'S ANSWER BRIEF

Respondent.

ROBERT D. ROSENBLOOM BAR COUNSEL THE FLORIDA BAR SUITE 211, RIVERGATE PLAZA 444 BRICKELL AVENUE MIAMI, FL 33131 (305) 377-4445

JOHN F. HARKNESS, JR. EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR THE FLORIDA BAR TALLAHASSEE, FL 32301-8226 (904) 222-5286

JOHN T. BERRY STAFF COUNSEL THE FLORIDA BAR TALLAHASSEE, FL 32301-8226 (904) 222-5286

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

ARGUMENTS

I.

THE REFEREE'S FINDINGS OF FACT AND RECOMMENDATIONS AS TO GUILT AND PROPOSED DISCIPLINE ARE SUPPORTED BY CLEAR AND CONVINCING RECORD EVIDENCE AND ARE CONSISTENT WITH EXISTING CASE LAW.

IN GENERAL

The ultimate judgment as to the correctness and the imposition of discipline upon an attorney in any disciplinary action is exclusively vested in this Court. The Florida Bar v. Weaver, 356 So.2d 797 (Fla. 1978).

Notwithstanding, this Court has long-held that:

[t]he initial fact-finding responsibility is imposed upon the referee. His findings of fact should be accorded substantial weight. They should not be overturned unless clearly erroneous or lacking in evidentiary support. The Florida Bar v. Wagner, 212 So.2d 770, at 772 (Fla. 1968).

Ten years later, this Court re-examined this synergistic relationship:

It is our responsibility to review the determination of guilt made by the Referees upon the facts of record, and if the charges be true, to impose an appropriate penalty for violation of the Code of Professional Responsibility. Fact-finding responsibility in disciplinary proceedings is imposed on the Referee. His findings should be upheld unless clearly erroneous or without support in the evidence. The Florida Bar v. Hirsch, 359 So.2d 856 at 857 (Fla. 1978).

Additional procedural considerations pertaining to trials by Referees in disciplinary proceedings include:

Findings of fact shall enjoy the same presumption of correctness as the judgment of the trier of fact in the civil proceeding. Fla. Bar Integr. Rule art. XI, Rule 11.06(9)(a).

* * * * * * * * * * * *

Upon review, the burden shall be upon the party seeking review to demonstrate that a report of a Referee sought to be reviewed is erroneous, unlawful, or unjustified. Fla. Bar Integr. Rule art. XI, Rule 11.09(3)(e).

* * * * * * * * * * * *

Finally, The Florida Bar is charged with the burden of presenting clear and convincing evidence of a breach of the Code of Professional Responsibility before the Supreme Court of Florida may conclude that any Respondent has committed ethical misconduct warranting disciplinary sanctions. The Florida Bar v. McCain, 361 So.2d 700 (Fla. 1978).

AS TO COUNT I

It is undisputed that Respondent was, for many years, the attorney, counselor, and confidant for the entire family of Eli Einbinder. At the time of Florence Einbinder's death on November 5, 1973, it is undisputed that her three surviving adult

daughters retained the services of their "Uncle Burnie" to serve as both administrator and attorney for their mother's estate.

Certainly, it is undisputed that the heirs' decision was motivated by their affection for and implicit confidence and trust in Respondent. (T. Nov. 29-33; T. Nov. 88-90, 101-102; T. Nov. 136-141; T. Dec. 19-25).

It is undisputed that in his capacity as administrator and attorney for the Estate of Florence Einbinder, Respondent opened a non-interest bearing checking account known as the Estate Account. (T. Nov. 42, 63).

It is undisputed that at all times material to Respondent's involvement in the Estate of Florence Einbinder, he also maintained an unrelated non-interest bearing checking account known as the Special Account. (T. Nov. 42, 63).

It is undisputed that Respondent directed each of the three heirs to endorse certain life insurance proceeds checks in the aggregate amount of \$54,535.02. (T. Nov. 58-60, 63-64, 74-76; T. Nov. 106-109; T. Nov. 142-144; T. Dec. 25-27).

It is undisputed that the heirs, all being over the age of majority, had an absolute right to take immediate possession of these monies and to exercise their complete dominion and control over same. (T. Dec. 20).

Notwithstanding, it is an uncontested fact that Respondent failed to advise the heirs in this regard. (T. Nov. 59). Rather, it is an undisputed fact that Respondent advised the heirs that

the life insurance proceeds should be "treated as any other estate asset". (T. Nov. 58-59; T. Nov. 106-109; T. Nov. 142-144; T. Dec. 25-27).

It is an undisputed fact that Respondent exercised his personal dominion and control over these funds. He used these funds and all other estate funds, "as he saw fit". (T. Nov. 46-48; T. Jan. 188-189).

It is an undisputed fact that during the period November 5, 1973 to April 8, 1974, Respondent, as administrator for and attorney of the estate was entrusted with the total sum of \$96,234.25 of monies belonging either lawfully to the estate or the heirs/beneficiaries. (T. Nov. 80; T. Jan. 89-90; Bar Exh. 15).

It is an undisputed fact that, during this same period of time, Respondent made legitimate disbursements, on behalf of the estate, to the three heirs/beneficiaries in the aggregate amount of \$14,065.00. (T. Nov. 80; T. Jan. 98; Bar Exh. 16).

It is an undisputed fact that as of April 8, 1974, Respondent had made other legitimate disbursements (on behalf of the estate) in the aggregate amount of \$1,153.85. (T. Nov. 80-81; T. Jan. 99; Bar Exh. 16).

It is an undisputed fact that as of April 8, 1974, there existed a deficit balance in the Special Account in the amount of \$697.87 and a positive balance in the Estate Account in the amount of \$141.25. (T. Jan. 101-104; Bar Exh. 16).

There now arises the issue of the "missing" monies which (as of April 8, 1974) constituted the balance of the life insurance proceeds and other estate assets in the aggregate amount of \$80,874.15. (T. Nov. 80-84; T. Jan. 101-104). The Florida Bar maintains, and the Referee has determined, that the non-existence of these funds in either the Special Account or the Estate Account constituted an ongoing and continuing misappropriation and conversion of clients' funds. Respondent has advised both The Florida Bar and the Referee that the non-existence of these funds in either the Special Account or the Estate Account does not constitute misappropriation or conversion, but merely demonstrates a commingling of these funds with those of his own.

Respondent's contention in this regard is founded upon the following considerations:

- (1) That Respondent had received the heirs' implicit permission, albeit not in writing, to use any and all funds, be they insurance proceeds or other estate monies, for any purpose he saw fit.
- (2) That notwithstanding the fact that all of the heirs were over the age of majority, Respondent designated himself as a "self-appointed guardian", and determined that he would exercise his learned judgment and acumen on their behalf.
- (3) That whenever any of the heirs requested partial distributions of their money, Respondent always complied with their request.
- (4) That the entire balance of all entrusted funds, be they the proceeds from life insurance

policies or other estate monies, was always available for immediate distribution in the event that the heirs should ever request same.

- (5) That Respondent eventually returned all previously entrusted funds to the heirs, and, subsequent thereto, paid to the heirs, vis-a-vis a settlement, significant monies representing interest due the heirs, surcharge penalties, and successor attorney's fees.
- (6) That as a result of his having restored the heirs to their financial status quo (in addition to the "assessed penalties"), no one was hurt.

* * * * * * * * * * * *

During the course of these disciplinary hearings, each of the three heirs testified that Respondent had advised them, individually and/or collectively, that all insurance benefit proceeds were to be treated as estate assets and were required to be deposited into the Estate Account. (T. Nov. 58-59; T. Nov. 143; T. Dec. 25-28).

Each of the three heirs testified that at no time did Respondent request their permission to use either estate assets or insurance proceeds for his own personal benefit, and that at no time did they authorize Respondent to use either estate funds or insurance proceeds for his own personal use. (T. Nov. 67; T. Nov. 119-120; T. Nov. 144; T. Dec. 25-29).

Respondent's contention is further discredited by the heirs testimony that they had discussed with him his placing of the

estate funds and the insurance proceeds into an interest bearing account; however, at no time were these monies placed in an interest bearing account. (T. Nov. 104-106; T. Nov. 145-147; T. Dec. 25-26, 29).

Certainly, such discussions refute and negate any belief on the part of Respondent that he had the heirs' permission (expressed, implied, or otherwise) to use the insurance proceeds or other estate funds for his own personal purposes.

In this regard, the Referee made the following specific findings:

That having heard the testimony of the three heirs and having observed their demeanor, the undersigned Referee is of the belief that their testimony was totally credible, that their sincerity was genuine, that their motivation is not at issue, and that their testimony was extremely believable and should be afforded the utmost weight. In light of the foregoing, I specifically find that at no time did the Respondent ever request the heirs' permission to use either the estate funds or the insurance proceeds for his own personal benefit, and at no time did the heirs ever authorize the Respondent to do so. Further, I specifically find that the heirs, individually and/or collectively, discussed with the Respondent his investing these funds in an interest bearing account and, that in fact, at no time did the Respondent so invest the funds. Finally, I specifically find that the three heirs placed their total trust and confidence in the Respondent and that at all times the Respondent encouraged their investiture of faith. (RR par. 23).

During the course of the Disciplinary hearings, Respondent testified that he would use all funds coming into the estate "as

he saw fit"; however, Respondent testified that he did not expressly advise the heirs that he would use these funds for his own personal purposes. (T. Nov. 47-48, 57, 63; T. Jan. 188-189).

* * * * * * * * * * * * *

In support of his having advised the heirs that the insurance proceeds should be treated in a manner consistent with the handling of the other estate assets, and his advices to the heirs that he would use all funds coming into the estate "as he saw fit", Respondent advised the Referee that he viewed himself as a "self-appointed guardian". (T. Nov. 48, 63, 82; T. Nov. 106-109; T. Nov. 143-145; T. Jan. 185-186).

At the time of their mother's death, all three heirs were sui juris. Respondent, in his testimony before the Referee, professed concern that the heirs were not sufficiently mature or financially competent to manage their new-found wealth. Notwith-standing, Respondent's self-appointment constituted an outrageous assumption of authority unknown to the law. It invaded the exclusive province and domain of the Probate Court, and it made a mockery of the existing Probate Code.

Respondent's failure to prudently invest these funds on behalf of the heirs and his conscious and deliberate decision to utilize these monies for his own personal purposes serves to undermine his professed benevolent guardian theory and vitiates Respondent's contention that his testimony be afforded credibility. In this regard, the Referee offered the following insight:

> Burnett Roth wants this Referee to believe that he had permission to use these funds. That position is ludicrous. Heirs do not ask for their own money and receive it piece-meal if they know it was theirs..... I find no merit in his benevolent guardian theory. (RR p. 18).

> > * * * * * * * * * * *

Because funds were always made available to the heirs

"whenever they asked for them", Respondent suggests that this
fact should militate against a finding that he had misappropriated or converted their funds. The absurdity of this position is
painfully apparent. In reliance upon Respondent's advices, the
heirs were lead to believe that they had no right to request the
immediate and absolute return of their funds. The heirs' belief
was the direct and proximate result of Respondent's own advices
to them. In this regard, it is important to note that at no time
did Respondent ever tender money or other assets to the heirs
unless first requested to do so by an individual heir. (RR par. 31).

* * * * * * * * * * * *

Respondent "claims" that the entire corpus of all previously entrusted funds was always available for distribution to the heirs in the event they were needed or requested. As a result,

Respondent is heard to suggest that his actions, therefore, did not constitute misappropriation or conversion.

Again, under what possible set of circumstances (save a catastrophic tragedy) would the heirs have requested their monies in light of Respondent's earlier advices?

Respondent testified that as of April 8, 1974, funds in the amount of \$80,874.15 were no longer on deposit in either the Special Account or the Estate Account. (T. Nov. 80-84).

However, Respondent would have this Honorable Court believe that at all times subsequent to April 8, 1974, he exercised the unbridled and exclusive dominion and control over these funds; that is, Respondent suggests that the total amount of these funds were always in existence and were always available for distribution.

This position is devoid of merit and is absolutely contrary to the record evidence. During the course of the final disciplinary hearing convened before the Referee on January 6, 1984, the following colloquy pertaining to this very point transpired:

Mr. Rosenbloom:

Let me suggest this to you, that with regard to the statement you made that you did not use all the money, that all the money was not in the account, you were then talking about \$80,000.00; that is when that statement was made.

Now, I want to know what did you do with the \$80,000.00?

Mr. Roth: I used part of it to pay some

obligations that I had.

Mr. Rosenbloom: How much of it?

Mr. Roth: As reflected by some --

Mr. Rosenbloom: How much of it?

Mr. Duval: I think it shows --

Mr. Roth: It looks like I paid some IRS

thing and it was not for the estate, so it had to have been for me. I don't know who I paid it for and that is \$16,000.00.

Mr. Rosenbloom: That is \$16,000.00 of \$80,000.00?

Mr. Roth: I cannot tell you.

Mr. Rosenbloom: What did you do with the other

\$64,000.00?

Mr. Roth: I don't know. If I knew what I

did with it at this point in time, where I had it at that point, I would tell you. I just do not know, Sir. I would have no hesi-

tancy in telling you. (T. Jan. 177-178).

Although, Respondent would have this Court believe that he had the capacity to immediately, and, at any time, return the heirs' funds, by virtue of his own sworn testimony, Respondent lacked the capacity and the requisite dominion and control over these funds to comply with any such request. Indeed, in light of the foregoing, Respondent was fortunate that the heirs did not make any such request.

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * *

Because Respondent maintains that he eventually returned all funds to the heirs prior to the initiation of this disciplinary action, Respondent argues that the Record will not support a finding of conversion and misappropriation. Respondent further maintains, arguendo, that the Referee's recommendation that he be disbarred is without sufficient foundation. This Court should not overlook the fact that Respondent did not return these funds until such time as the heirs retained successor counsel, as evidenced by the fact that Respondent admits that, on or about September 6, 1977, he deposited \$22,650.00 into the Estate Account, thereby replacing funds which properly belonged to the estate.

(T. Dec. 54-57; Bar Comp. Exh. 3). Respondent's misplaced reliance on this position is obvious; in fact, his argument directly supports the finding of the Referee that he was never entitled to either possess or use the funds in the instance.

Finally, Respondent is heard to suggest that his actions did not "harm" his clients. Apparently, Respondent equates the absence of "harm" with the financial restoration of his clients to the status quo. The unmitigated callousness of Respondent's argument demonstrates a disturbing lack of awareness of and appreciation for the full panoply of human emotion. The insensitivity of Respondent's argument becomes clearly manifest when viewed against the testimony of one of the three heirs who was

questioned as to her feelings upon learning that Respondent had improperly used her funds:

I think that deceived is a very light word considering the mental cruelty and the anguish of having this happen and having to go through this whole thing for the last I would say eight years.

My mother died in 1973 and we are still involved with something that has to do with her death and with her estate.

Yes, I think it is the highest form of insult and harrassment and deceit.

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